

A Service of

ZBW

Leibniz-Informationszentrum Wirtschaft Leibniz Information Centre for Economics

Haberer, Markus

Working Paper Some Criticism of the Tobin Tax

CoFE Discussion Paper, No. 03/01

Provided in Cooperation with: University of Konstanz, Center of Finance and Econometrics (CoFE)

Suggested Citation: Haberer, Markus (2003) : Some Criticism of the Tobin Tax, CoFE Discussion Paper, No. 03/01, University of Konstanz, Center of Finance and Econometrics (CoFE), Konstanz, https://nbn-resolving.de/urn:nbn:de:bsz:352-opus-9787

This Version is available at: https://hdl.handle.net/10419/23553

Standard-Nutzungsbedingungen:

Die Dokumente auf EconStor dürfen zu eigenen wissenschaftlichen Zwecken und zum Privatgebrauch gespeichert und kopiert werden.

Sie dürfen die Dokumente nicht für öffentliche oder kommerzielle Zwecke vervielfältigen, öffentlich ausstellen, öffentlich zugänglich machen, vertreiben oder anderweitig nutzen.

Sofern die Verfasser die Dokumente unter Open-Content-Lizenzen (insbesondere CC-Lizenzen) zur Verfügung gestellt haben sollten, gelten abweichend von diesen Nutzungsbedingungen die in der dort genannten Lizenz gewährten Nutzungsrechte.

Terms of use:

Documents in EconStor may be saved and copied for your personal and scholarly purposes.

You are not to copy documents for public or commercial purposes, to exhibit the documents publicly, to make them publicly available on the internet, or to distribute or otherwise use the documents in public.

If the documents have been made available under an Open Content Licence (especially Creative Commons Licences), you may exercise further usage rights as specified in the indicated licence.



WWW.ECONSTOR.EU

Some Criticism of the Tobin Tax

Markus Haberer*

January 2003

Abstract

High volatility and enormous international capital flows are negative effects of the globalization of financial markets that can lead to financial crises like those of the 1990s. The Tobin tax often has been put forward as a measure to diminish globalization risks since it is claimed to discourage short-term speculation. The arguments of the proponents of this transactions tax are based on the assumption that (i) short-term trading is destabilizing and speculative and causes the volatility to increase, (ii) the Tobin tax does discourage this speculation and (iii) the Tobin tax causes market participants to orientate more by macroeconomic fundamentals. This paper suggests that these assumptions are quite questionable. Moreover, a Tobin tax of a sensible rate would be too small to protect countries from currency fires and would generate only little monetary autonomy. In addition to theoretical economic doubts there arise some political problems, which can make the tax to become infeasible.

Keywords: Globalization; International Financial Markets; Tobin Tax; Transactions Tax;

[°] Thanks to Bernd Genser, Markus Beslmeisl, Mark Heiler. Special thanks to Dirk Schindler for technical support.

^{*} Markus Haberer, Department of Economics, University of Konstanz, PBox D 133, 78457 Konstanz, Germany. Email: <u>Markus.2.Haberer@uni-konstanz.de</u>

Table of Contents

1. Introduction	01
2. Is the Tobin Tax Desirable?	03
2.1 Some Historical Notes	03
2.2 Two Theories of Speculation	05
2.3 A Model That Shows How the Tobin Tax Functions	06
2.3.1 After-Tax Return Parity Condition	06
2.3.2 A More Comprehensive Approach	07
2.4 A Model in Which a Reduction in Short-Term Speculation is Stabilizing.	09
2.4.1 A Macroeconomic Model	09
2.4.2 Extending the Model	11
2.5 Questionable Assumptions and Conclusions	12
2.5.1 Is Short-Term Investment Always Speculative and Destabilizing?2.5.2 Does a Tobin Tax Really Discourage Destabilizing	13
Speculation (Only)?	15
2.5.3 Does a Tobin Tax Make the Market Participants Orientate	
More by Fundamentals?	18
 3. Is a Small Tobin Tax Sufficient?	 21 21 24
4. Feasibility of the Tax	27
4.1 How Foreign Exchange is Traded	28
4.2 The Kenen-Proposal	28
4.3 Is the Tobin Tax Feasible?	29
5. Summary and Conclusions	31
References	34

1. Introduction

Today there is a worldwide academic and political discussion about chances and risks of globalization¹. Especially globalization of financial markets cuts both ways: On the one hand, financial markets with lower transaction costs and higher liquidity enhance the allocation of scarce capital and support trade in goods and services. Moreover, international asset diversification and hedging opportunities lower risks, and free international financial markets are the doors to foreign capital, especially for emerging economies with low domestic savings. Thus, international financial markets raise efficiency and profits due to international division of labor.² Economic growth in emerging countries is not only enhanced by the availability of foreign capital but also by developing local financial centers that become bridges to international business.³ On the other hand, low transaction costs encourage speculation, which is said to destabilize markets, especially speculation on foreign exchange rates.⁴ High fluctuations of asset prices and exchange rates are a source of uncertainty for the real sector and cause misallocation. Hedging those risks is costly and in some cases not possible. Another crucial point against free financial markets is the loss of independence of economic policy.⁵ Under free convertibility of the currency and free capital markets, autonomous economic policy is only possible with free floating exchange rates but not with fixed ones ('impossible trinity'). Therefore, if a country's objective is currency stability,⁶ it will have to give up the independence of its economic policy. It is no longer possible to care only about domestic data. External conditions have to be considered as well. Thus, governments lose their sovereignty over financial markets.⁷ Globalization of financial markets has been raising global foreign exchange transactions far faster than the growth of official reserves. In the 1980s, daily turnover was about 600 billion US-Dollar and exceeded 1,5 trillion US-Dollar before establishing the Euro. Today, daily transactions in the foreign exchange (forex) market are about 1.2 trillion US-Dollar (BIS (2001))⁸. Speculative runs can now swamp the financial resources that central banks can mobilize to counter such runs.⁹

¹ See for example Stiglitz (2002), Deutscher Bundestag (2002) and Grefe/Greffrath/Schumann (2002).

² Bundesverband Deutscher Banken (1998), p.6f; Greenspan (1998), p.245f.

³ See Sassen (1999).

⁴ See Horn (1995).

⁵ See Sauernheimer (1997), p.80.

⁶ Currency stability is desirable and often regarded as a public good.

⁷ Deutscher Bundestag (2002), p.73.

⁸ Especially due to the Euro, foreign exchange transactions are lower in 2001 than they were in 1998; see BIS (2001), p.44f.

⁹ Felix (1995) and Felix (1996); these articles are for good overview and to obtain a general idea of the problem and the Tobin Tax as a solution.

The question arises whether it were not better to regulate or to restrict international financial markets.¹⁰ In December 1999, the German Parliament set up a commission with the task to examine chances and risks of globalization. After two and a half years, the commission handed over a workout of more than 600 pages in June 2002. It calls for regulations of international financial markets, since these markets bear some systematic risks due to huge volume of transactions and high capital mobility. The suggestion is to implement a transactions tax on all foreign exchange transactions – the so-called Tobin tax. The idea of taxing foreign exchange transactions goes back to the proposal of James Tobin in 1978, but it has come into mind not until the financial crises of some emerging countries in the 1990s. The German Parliament is not the first one dealing with that issue. As the first country in Europe the French Parliament has instituted the Tobin tax in November 2001, but only on condition that all the other 14 European Union member nations agree to do the same. Canada passed a similar resolution in 1999, making its introduction conditional on widespread adoption.¹¹

This paper provides a critical view about the Tobin tax according to its concept as such, its efficacy and the feasibility.

Chapter 2 firstly offers some backgrounds before the suitability of this transactions tax is discussed. Our conceptual framework is an arbitrage model with its extensions (chapter 2.3) and a macroeconomic model in chapter 2.4. Most arguments of proponents of the Tobin tax are based on the assumption that short-term transactions are always speculative and destabilizing. Thus, this transactions tax, which discourages short-term trading, can contribute to stabilizing international financial markets. We find out in chapter 2.5 that the Tobin tax may not function as it is supposed to. Chapter 3 examines whether the tax would be sufficient to prevent currency crises and to enhance monetary autonomy. The Tobin tax seems not to be a measure, which diminishes these globalization risks effectively. Most doubts arise on the feasibility of the Tobin tax, which requires international agreement and coordination of national tax authorities (4). Chapter 5 summarizes and concludes.

¹⁰ Bird/Rajan (2000) distinguish restraints on capital movements between capital controls (capital account transactions per se) and exchange controls (foreign currency transactions).

¹¹ Fleming (2001).

2. Is the Tobin Tax Desirable?

With some historical notes and the distinction between two theories of speculation, this chapter firstly gives some essential basics for understanding the most important scientific contributions to the Tobin tax discussion. In chapter 2.3 and 2.4, the extensions of two standard models detect some weaknesses in the generalization of these models. Moreover, these approaches and the argumentation involved are based on questionable assumptions and unclear conclusions, which are stated and defeated in 2.5. The resulting query is whether the Tobin tax concept besides its problems of its efficacy (chapter 3) and its feasibility (chapter 4) makes good economic sense at all.

2.1 Some Historical Notes¹²

Aware of the problems that arise with free financial markets and floating exchange rates after abolition of the Bretton-Woods-System - namely excessive exchange rate volatility and dependency of the macroeconomic and monetary policy - James Tobin expressed his idea of a transactions tax in his Janeway Lectures at Princeton in 1972.¹³ The aim was to throw some sand in the wheels of super-efficient international financial markets when doubts about the 'markets-always-know-best' proposition rose. The idea fell like a stone in a deep well – to say it in Tobin's words – and so he tried it again in 1978.¹⁴ But at that time nobody thought about limiting international financial markets just after abolishing the Bretton-Woods-System of pegged exchange rates. This seemed to be a step back, and exchange rate volatility was not regarded as a serious problem. Not until the 1990s when first financial crises occurred in emerging markets and international projects like those of the United Nations against poverty had to be financed, one remembered the Tobin tax (Tobin (1996)). From that moment on a worldwide political and academic discussion about the Tobin tax started. A very often-cited book is that of ul Haq/Kaul/Grunberg (1996) that summarizes all issues on the Tobin tax.¹⁵

¹² For this whole chapter see Tobin (1978), Tobin (1996) and Tobin (1996a).

¹³ Published 1974, see Tobin (1974).

¹⁴ Tobin (1978).

¹⁵ About this reader see Raffer (1998), Smith (1997) and Stotsky (1997).

Starting point is financial speculation especially on exchange rate movements that John Maynard Keynes already described as harmful for the functioning of financial markets in his famous 'General Theory' from 1936. Both fixed and floating exchange rate regimes are vulnerable to speculation, and hence a transaction tax might help to curb speculation. James Tobin has two main objectives: First, he wants the exchange rate to reflect fundamental data rather than speculators' expectations. In other words, excessive volatility has to be small. Second, the tax should give authorities more autonomy of national macroeconomic and monetary policy. Tax revenue is just a by-product. However, this last point is often the argument of proponents of the Tobin tax and critics of globalization, neglecting that this is no aim of the tax. We will not examine the revenue raising function of the Tobin tax in this work.

According to his proposal of the 70s, the Tobin tax should be levied on all spot transactions on the foreign exchange market. Thus, the ad-valorem tax has to be paid twice when purchasing and selling the foreign currency. The expected effect is that short-term round trips are penalized because the tax has to be financed within shorter periods. Commodity trade and long-term capital investments are said to be affected negligibly. The tax rate is constant and at a level of 0.1 to 1 per cent. Thus, a 0.1 per cent tax costs 0.2 per cent each round trip for the investor. That is 48 per cent a year if transacted every business day (240 days), 10 per cent if every week and 2.4 per cent if every month (Tobin (1996)). Frankel (1996) shows that the Tobin tax penalizes short-term investments more the shorter the horizon.¹⁶ To minimize the incentives to evade the tax or to alter the foreign exchange market structure from a decentralized dealer-driven market to one that is centralized and customer driven, the most appropriate rate of taxation ranges between 0.1 and 0.25 per cent. Due to increased volume in derivative transactions and new derivative instruments since his first proposal, a Tobin tax limited to spot transactions will lead to a tax-saving reallocation of financial transactions from traditional spot transactions to derivative instruments.¹⁷ All forwards, futures, swaps and options are to be taxed because of these alternative ways through which a speculator can go long or short of a currency without going himself through the spot market (Goodhart (1996); Bird/Rajan (2000)).

¹⁶ In chapter 2.3 we will refer to it in detail.
¹⁷ See Garber/Taylor (1995), p.179f.

2.2 Two Theories of Speculation

One of the most cited papers when discussing the Tobin tax is that of Eichengreen/Tobin/Wyplosz (1995) in which the authors revive Tobin's old arguments for putting grains of sand in the wheels of financial markets. Their idea is that financial market regulations like a Tobin tax or deposit requirements can raise welfare when these markets are responsible for shocks on labor and commodity markets. The Tobin tax as well as deposit requirements are measures in a second-best world¹⁸ to diminish these shocks - namely excessive volatility, and are aimed at discouraging speculative short-term investments. The question arises whether speculative behavior is destabilizing or not.

To distinguish very roughly there are two theories of speculation. One goes back to Milton Friedman (1953), who argues that speculation must be stabilizing because arbitrageurs are buying low and selling high. This leads to an approximation to the fundamental value and drives the market down to its warranted price. Speculators that buy high and sell low go out of the market. Nevertheless, the problem is that this model requires speculators that have an accurate estimate of the equilibrium price.¹⁹ Then they expect the price to fall when it is above equilibrium and vice versa. But for the case that this equilibrium does not exist or cannot be seen by the market participants, it might be rational to guess that the price will move up further.

Keynes (1936) describes the speculative behavior as a "beauty contest". The goal of the rent-seeking speculators is not to estimate the intrinsic market value but to beat the market – or how Keynes would have said – to 'anticipate what average opinion expects the average opinion to be' and to 'guess better than the crowd how the crowd will behave' (from Arestis/Sawyer (1997), p.757).

Without mentioning it, Dornbusch/Frankel (1987) agree with Keynes. Speculative bubbles sometimes far away from fundamentals can be rational not to lose money. Moreover, chartists often perform better especially in the short run than speculators whose trading decision are based on fundamental data. Therefore, short-term oriented chartists

¹⁸ The first-best case would be one single worldwide currency. This proposition is quite old (see Dimand/Dore (2000), p.523f.) and often discussed but not realistic in the near future.

¹⁹ One great advantage of the Tobin tax is that you do not have to know the fundamental value of the exchange rate. By discouraging short-term speculation, the fundamental equilibrium is said to find itself. Therefore the Tobin tax is superior to other alternatives of limiting international financial markets (Menkhoff/Michaelis (1995)).

dominate and destabilize international financial markets.²⁰ Frankel (1996) refers to survev data²¹ showing that bandwagon effects will occur, if trade is based on extrapolative expectations of short horizons. At longer horizons, speculation seems to be stabilizing. Based on these assumptions a Tobin tax that discourages short-term trading can help stabilize the foreign exchange market.

2.3 A Model That Shows How the Tobin Tax Functions

In the following, we will derive a condition for the Tobin tax burden dependent on the investment duration. In the standard model without implementing expectations, the expected inverse relationship between the tax burden and the holding period can be generalized. However, extending the model with expected returns due to exchange rate movements this desirable result holds only in periods of capital inflow.

2.3.1 After-Tax Return Parity Condition

This approach is based on that of Frankel (1996) who demonstrates the characteristic of the Tobin tax by setting an arbitrage condition in which after-tax returns in the domestic country must equal those in a foreign country. In his often-cited paper the Tobin tax is modeled such that only the principal is taxed twice. Since it may be difficult or even impossible to distinguish between the principal and interest earnings when pulling back the invested money, it seems to be more sensible to tax both the principal and interest earnings. Let i^A be the nominal interest rate in the home country A and i^B the foreign country nominal interest rate, y is the duration of investment measured as the number of years and t is the Tobin tax levied on each currency transaction. Assumed that both the principal and interest earnings are subject to the tax and arbitrage condition holds, aftertax returns must be equal for whether the investment takes place in the domestic country or in the foreign country:

(2.1)
$$(1+i^B y)(1-t)^2 = 1+i^A y$$

 ²⁰ See Dornbusch/Frankel (1987) and Frankel (1996) in their conclusion.
 ²¹ See Frankel (1993).

Solving for the foreign rate of return gives:

(2.2)
$$i^{B} = \frac{i^{A}}{(1-t)^{2}} + \frac{1}{y} \cdot \frac{t(2-t)}{(1-t)^{2}}$$

As we can see from the second term of the right-hand side, the burden of the Tobin tax is inversely related to the duration of the foreign investment since the longer the investment-duration the lower the required foreign rate of return. To show it mathematically we take the first derivative of equation (2.2) with respect to the duration y:

(2.3)
$$\frac{\partial i^{B}}{\partial y} = -\frac{1}{y^{2}} \cdot \frac{t(2-t)}{(1-t)^{2}} < 0.$$

In this framework, short-term speculative investments are always discouraged by the Tobin tax.

2.3.2 A More Comprehensive Approach

The shortcoming of the Frankel model as well as the model above is, that the investment decision, normally based on expected upward or downward moves of the exchange rate, is not modeled. As we will see, expectations are the clue of the story. To model it more comprehensively²², we can write:

(2.4)
$$(1+i^B y)(1-t)^2 \cdot \frac{E^{t+1}}{E^t} = 1+i^A y$$
,

where E^{t} is the spot exchange rate (domestic currency unit per unit of foreign currency) and E^{t+1} the expected exchange rate. Solving for the required rate of return abroad,

(2.5)
$$i^{B} = \frac{i^{A}}{(1-t)^{2}} \cdot \frac{E^{t}}{E^{t+1}} + \frac{1}{y} \cdot \frac{1}{(1-t)^{2}} \cdot \frac{E^{t}}{E^{t+1}} - \frac{1}{y}$$

²² See Rajan (2001), p.10ff. and Bird/Rajan (2001), p.31ff.

For the case in which the investor expects neither gain nor loss due to exchange rate movements, that is E^{t+1} equals E^t , we get the same result as above shown in equation (2.2) and (2.3). But there is no doubt about that expected exchange rate movements are the reasons the speculate on currencies. Thus, the implicit assumption that E^{t+1} equals E^t is very restrictive and neglects totally the speculator's motivation.

The first derivative of equation (2.5) with respect to the duration y yields

(2.6)
$$\frac{\partial i^{B}}{\partial y} = -\frac{1}{y^{2}} \cdot \frac{1}{(1-t)^{2}} \cdot \frac{E^{t}}{E^{t+1}} + \frac{1}{y^{2}}.$$

Thus, in this more general case the equation

$$(2.7) \quad \frac{E^{t+1}}{E^t} < \frac{1}{(1-t)^2}$$

will have to hold, if the burden of the Tobin tax should be inversely related to the duration of the foreign investment. In periods of capital inflow when investors assume the foreign exchange rate to appreciate, condition (2.7) holds and therefore short-term investments face a higher Tobin tax burden. More critical are periods of capital outflow. In this case, expected depreciation of the domestic currency might be too large to satisfy condition (2.7). A Tobin tax of 1 per cent implies that the expected depreciation of the currency must not be larger than approximately 2 per cent. In currency crises when depreciations of more than 20 per cent are expected, even a Tobin tax of 10 per cent is not able to hinder the vicious effect of discouraging long-term investments since equation (2.7) is not satisfied.

The model yields two results: First, it is only in periods of capital inflow that the Tobin tax can reach its objective in stabilizing foreign exchange markets by discouraging short-term speculation. Second, in periods of panic the Tobin tax has a 'perverse' effect since real investments of longer horizons face higher tax burdens. The conclusion is clear-cut: The Tobin tax is not a measure to manage crises and - if at all - should be applied counter-cyclically as crises prevention.

2.4 A Model in Which a Reduction in Short-Term Speculation is Stabilizing

After having discussed the microeconomic approach based on an investor's arbitrage calculus in the preceding chapter we now turn to a macroeconomic model. As we will see a reduction in short-term speculation and higher responsiveness of long-term investors to their expectation reduce the volatility of the spot exchange rate. However, incorporating the long-term equilibrium exchange rate through the purchasing power parity (PPP) leads to the result that independence of macroeconomic policy goes hand in hand with higher exchange rate variability, and that volatility increases over time.

2.4.1 A Macroeconomic Model²³

Consider again a world of two countries, A (domestic) and B (foreign). Let E^t be the spot exchange rate between the two currencies, m the supply of domestic assets relative to foreign assets and d the relative demand for domestic assets. E^t , m and d are in log form. We then can write

(2.8)
$$E^t = m - d + u$$
,

when the exchange rate is determined by the ratio of the relative supply to the relative demand for domestic assets; and u is an unknown error term. Imagine a fraction of w long-term investors i whose investment decisions are based on economic fundamentals, and a fraction of (1-w) market participants s that engage in short-term speculation (chartists). We can rewrite the demand

(2.9)
$$d = wd^{i} + (1-w) \cdot d^{s}$$
.

The long-term investors i (often called "fundamentalists") expect the exchange rate to converge to equilibrium while speculators have extrapolative forecasts. That is to say, they expect the exchange rate to diverge from equilibrium and thus creating a bubble not to lose money. \overline{E} denotes the exchange rate equilibrium, q is the investors' rate of

²³ Frankel (1996), p.71f.

expected convergence and v is the chartists' expected rate of divergence of the spot rate from the long run equilibrium.

Then the expected depreciations (exp dep) of the two market participants can be written as

(2.10a) exp depⁱ =
$$-q \cdot (E^t - \overline{E})$$

and
(2.10b) exp dep^s = $v \cdot (E^t - \overline{E})$.

Assume that f^i and f^s are the demand elasticities of the two market participants for foreign assets with respect to their corresponding expectations. Accordingly, we may rewrite the relative demand for domestic assets d as follows:

(2.11)
$$d = w f^{i} q \cdot \left(E^{t} - \overline{E} \right) - \left(1 - w \right) \cdot f^{s} v \cdot \left(E^{t} - \overline{E} \right).$$

Solving for the spot rate, we obtain

(2.12)
$$E^{t} = \alpha \cdot [m - (1 - w) \cdot f^{s} v \overline{E} + w f^{i} q \overline{E} + u],$$

where

(2.13)
$$\alpha = \frac{1}{1 - (1 - w) \cdot f^s v + w f^i q}$$
.

From (2.12), the variance (Var) of the spot rate is

(2.14)
$$\operatorname{Var}(\mathrm{E}^{t}) = \alpha^{2} \cdot \operatorname{Var}(\mathbf{m} + \mathbf{u}).$$

Now, it is easy to see, that

(2.15)
$$\frac{\partial \operatorname{Var}(\mathrm{E}^{t})}{\partial \mathrm{w}} < 0.$$

The variability of the spot exchange rate decreases with increasing proportion of longterm investors.

Deriving (2.14) with respect to the responsiveness of the two market participants, we get

(2.16)
$$\frac{\partial \operatorname{Var}(\mathrm{E}^{t})}{\partial f^{i}} < 0 \text{ and } \frac{\partial \operatorname{Var}(\mathrm{E}^{t})}{\partial f^{s}} > 0.$$

The more sensitive or responsive the speculators are to their expectations the higher the volatility of the foreign exchange rate. In response, the higher the responsiveness of investors to their expectation the lower the volatility of the spot exchange rate. This means a Tobin tax, which discourages short-term speculation or makes all market participants orientate more by macro fundamentals would result in a lower volatility of

the spot exchange rate.

2.4.2 Extending the Model²⁴

In the model, the long-term equilibrium exchange rate \overline{E} is assumed exogenous. However, referring to economic literature²⁵ the Purchasing Power Parity can be taken for granted to hold for the long run. Therefore, we can assume that \overline{E} is determined by PPP:

$$(2.17) \quad \overline{E} = p^A - p^B,$$

where p^{A} and p^{B} refer to the price levels in the home and in the foreign country.²⁶ We can now rewrite (2.12) obtaining

(2.18) $E^{t} = \alpha \cdot \{ m + [wf^{i}q - (1 - w) \cdot f^{s}v] \cdot (p^{A} - p^{B}) + u \}.$

²⁴ Bird/Rajan (1999), p.8ff. and Bird/Rajan (2001), p.28ff.
²⁵ See for example Mishkin (2000).
²⁶ Remember that all variables are in log form.

The variance then is

(2.19)
$$\operatorname{Var}\left(\mathrm{E}^{t}\right) \cdot \alpha^{2} = \operatorname{Var}\left(\mathrm{m}\right) + (1-d)^{2} \cdot \operatorname{Var}\left(\mathrm{p}^{\mathrm{A}}\right) + \operatorname{Var}\left(\mathrm{p}^{\mathrm{B}}\right) + \operatorname{Var}\left(\mathrm{u}\right) \\ - 2 \cdot (1-d) \cdot \left[\operatorname{Cov}\left(\mathrm{m},\mathrm{p}^{\mathrm{A}}\right) - \operatorname{Cov}\left(\mathrm{m},\mathrm{p}^{\mathrm{B}}\right)\right] + (1-d) \cdot \operatorname{Cov}\left(\mathrm{p}^{\mathrm{A}},\mathrm{p}^{\mathrm{B}}\right)$$

if the disturbance term u is assumed to be uncorrelated with prices and relative asset supply. Ignoring the covariances, Bird and Rajan conclude an increase in the variability of the exchange rate by endogenizing \overline{E} compared to a situation where it is treated exogenous and constant. In the case of largely independent macroeconomic policies and flexible exchange rates,²⁷ Cov(p^A,p^B) is close to zero and the volatility of the foreign exchange rate is higher. In other words, the costs of policy independence are high exchange rate variability. Another finding is that volatility increases over time. The proportion of speculators rises because of higher uncertainty about fundamentals due to higher volatility of the exchange rate. To say it in words of Bird/Rajan there may be a vicious cycle or self-fulfilling prophecy in which speculation and variability feed on each other in the short term.

2.5 Questionable Assumptions and Conclusions

Proponents of the Tobin tax may argue in line with Frankel: Short-term trading is speculative and is the cause for excessive volatility. Therefore, a Tobin tax, which is more burdensome for speculators, especially extrapolating chartists, stabilizes the foreign exchange rate because the fraction of long-term investors orientated by fundamentals increases. This argument is based on three assumptions: First, short-term trading is destabilizing and speculative and causes the volatility to increase. Second, the Tobin tax really discourages this speculation. Third, the Tobin tax causes the market participants to orientate more by macroeconomic fundamentals.²⁸ In the following, we will examine these three assumptions and will find out that they are quite questionable.

²⁷ The opposite would be highly correlated price levels when one country pegs its exchange rate to the other.

²⁸ The third assumption seems to be similar to the second but the idea is to distinguish between speculators that go out of the market (higher w in our model) and speculators that stay in the market but with lower responsiveness to their extrapolating expectations (lower $f^{s}v$) or with higher responsiveness to their expectation that the exchange rate will converge (higher $f^{i}q$).

2.5.1 Is Short-Term Investment Always Speculative And Destabilizing?

Bird/Rajan (1999) provide a summary of the literature about market participants. The main result is that there exist two kinds of participants: On the one hand there are investors who make use of conventional macroeconomic exchange rate theories, the so called 'fundamentalists', on the other hand there are speculators who engage in extrapolating analytical techniques, the so called chartists. The surveys finds out the chartists to dominate the forex market in the short run, both according to number and to performance. As we have already assumed in our model the chartists are trend-chasers. That means they buy when the currency appreciates and sell when the currency depreciates since they extrapolate past exchange rate movements into the future. They do not observe macroeconomic fundamentals. Real investors (to avoid the expression 'fundamentalists') become more important in the long run. They do observe macroeconomic data and compare the spot exchange rate with an equilibrium exchange rate based on these fundamentals. Thus, they sell when the currency appreciates and seems to be above equilibrium and they buy when the currency seems to be undervalued. These speculators a la Friedman behave as arbitrageurs and help to stabilize the foreign exchange rate. Summers/Summers (1989) bring it to the point:²⁹ Real investors (based on fundamentals) have negative feedback and reduce volatility by bringing back the price (exchange rate) to equilibrium. There is no need to trade frequently; therefore, this stabilizing 'value investing' occurs in the long run. Speculation involves positive feedback and tends to increase volatility. This destabilizing behavior goes with short-term horizons.

However, there are some counter-arguments to this view: Assumed it is true that shortterm trading is speculative and causes the volatility to increase. Liberalization and deregulation of the international financial markets and the possibility to buy and sell every second world wide due to modern information and communication technology tend to increase the number of short-term speculators. Therefore, exchange rate volatility must have risen over the last twenty years. De Grauwe (2000) shows that there is no evidence for increased exchange rate volatility. In a former work, he examined the mean average monthly changes and the standard deviations of the four big currencies namely US-Dollar, Yen, Pound and Deutsche Mark over last three decades from 1973 until 1996. The result is that there is nearly no difference in the degree of variability of the ex-

²⁹ Note that Summers and Summers focus on the security market, but most of their findings hold for the foreign exchange market as well.

change rates, even a small decline of volatility in the 1990s compared to the 1980s.³⁰ De Grauwe concludes the assumption that short-term trades are speculative and thus destabilizing, to be false. Up to 70 per cent of the exchange rate volume, short-term transactions inclusive are interdealer and can be explained by hedging strategies and not speculation. Lyons (2001) calls the passing of unwanted positions from dealer to dealer following an initial customer trade 'hot potato trading' to which we will refer in the next chapter. As we will see a Tobin tax would thus be burdensome to desirable transactions. Further arguments can be found in Dooley (1996). There seems to be no evidence that speculators engage only in short-term investments. Truly, their forecasts are based on short horizons but this does not say anything about their time period in which they are long or short of a currency. There is no rule saying to trade frequently. Moreover, direct investments are not always of long-term character. The easiest hedge of a direct investment in a foreign country is to take a local bank loan there. In the case of panic, one can run off the country leaving behind the investment project and the loan without loosing much. Direct investors and international holders of long-term capital do not necessarily hold their positions longer than those of short-term capital. On the contrary, they might be the first pulling out their capital when the atmosphere changes. If real investment and short-term capital do not differ from each other according to time series behavior, a Tobin tax will not have any effect to the composition of capital flows.

To argue the other way round there is no evidence that short-term projects tend to be less desirable than long-term projects. A transaction tax would increase transaction costs with the aim to discourage short-term trading in order to diminish market volatility. The conclusion is that markets with high transaction costs are less volatile than international financial markets, especially the foreign exchange market. Yet, the markets for housing or land, for instance, with high transaction costs are not more volatile than international financial markets.

³⁰ This finding stands in contrast to what BIS (2001a, p.99) suggests, probably due to different methods in determining volatility and new data. Volatility among Dollar, Yen and Euro exchange rates increased in the last two decades except for the Euro/Dollar market. In BIS (2002, p.91) 23 currencies are examined according to exchange rate volatility in 1995/1996 and 1999-2002. Over all with only few exceptions, volatility has increased.

2.5.2 Does a Tobin Tax Really Discourage Destabilizing Speculation (Only)?

The idea of the Tobin tax is to diminish volatility by discouraging short-term speculation that is said to be destabilizing. In the previous chapter, we have already found out that it is not clear-cut whether these transactions really contribute to higher volatility. Nevertheless, assume short-term transactions to be destabilizing. Then, is a Tobin tax in fact burdensome to speculation or does it discourage desirable transactions as well? The argument proponents of the Tobin tax put forward is the inverse relation between tax burden and duration of the foreign investment as we have shown in chapter 2.3.1. Yet, we already know some restrictions when we extend the model by modeling expectations on future exchange rates. In the case of capital outflow, a contrary effect occurs that stands in sharp contrast to what Tobin (1978) and Frankel (1996)³¹ suggest.

Davidson (1997) doubts whether it makes sense at all to model the Tobin tax burden depending on the holding period, since the Tobin tax, like all transactions costs, is independent of the round trip time interval. Therefore, he compares situations with and without a Tobin tax in which investors have to decide whether to buy or to sell and he determines the tax rate that way (we will come to this in detail later).

Dooley (1996) points out that the costs of taxing international currency transactions might be higher than its benefits. He refers to Kupiec (1995) who examined a transactions tax levy in a framework in which noise-traders cause the asset prices to behave more volatile. On the one hand, transactions taxes reduce asset price volatility, on the other hand they cause the asset prices to fall due to cumulated and discounted taxes that are expected in the future. It is shown that the costs are higher than the benefits. According to foreign exchange markets, the paper suggests the Tobin tax not to be desirable.

Now let us refer to what we have already mentioned above. About two-third of total foreign exchange volume is amongst dealers and can be explained by hot potato trading. Hot potato trading is the search process for a counterparty, which is willing to accept a new currency position. Every currency dealer wants to restore the old equilibrium according to his risk-aversion when he is too long or too short of a currency due to a customer order. Thus, the passing of unwanted positions is a consequence of dealers' risk management. Lyons (1997) suggests that hot potato trading is consistent with a dealer's optimizing behavior. Assume there are many risk-averse currency dealers that are stay-

³¹ Just like Summers/Summers (1989) and Stiglitz (1989) according to security markets.

ing in their portfolio equilibrium. Now, one of them gets out of balance due to a customer sale of 10 million in foreign currency. Willing to carry only 10 per cent of this initial order, he searches for another dealer wanting to buy 9 million. Every dealer in the chain just wants to hold 10 per cent. Consequently, the initial volume of 10 million of foreign currency leads to an overall interdealer trade of 90 million. Thus, this very simple model shows that 90 per cent of total market volume is amongst dealers in order to hedge risks. Lyons (2001) states that 90 per cent is fairly too high but hot potato trading amounting up to 70 per cent of total market volume is realistic. There are two main effects: First, the price decline of the foreign currency will be smaller, if many dealers carry only a fraction of the initial order instead of one dealer who is willing to hold all. This stems from the (realistic) assumption that dealers are risk averse and thus have concave utility functions. Higher positions will only be carried, if a higher risk premium is paid. Second, total risk is shared amongst many dealers and therefore can be spread around more efficiently. A tax levy on each trade causes this search for risk spreading to become more expensive and consequently ends up with higher risks in the foreign exchange market and higher volatility.³²

Moreover, a Tobin tax would be more burdensome to the initial order based on real trade and followed by a chain of, for instance, 4 dealers than to pure speculation. Assumed that the Tobin tax is at a rate of 0,5 per cent and every dealer carries 5 per cent, the hot potato trading would be taxed as follows:

(2.20) total tax burden =
$$0.5\% \cdot (1 + 0.95 + 0.95^2 + 0.95^3)$$

= $0.5\% \cdot 3.71$
= 1.85% .

As we can see, the tax burden of the hedging chain is 3.71 times higher than for a pure speculative transaction. Thus, the Tobin tax does not discourage destabilizing speculation but risk-lowering hedging.

Davidson (1997) argues similar but concludes differently. More roughly than in (2.20) one can say that the tax burden is 4 times higher for international trade transaction followed by hot potato trading than for short-term speculative transactions without hedging. This means that a Tobin tax of 0,5 per cent is equivalent to a 2 per cent tax on all foreign trade in goods and services, whereas speculation is taxed at a rate of 0,5 per

³² De Grauwe (2000), p.395.

cent. This is exactly the opposite of Tobin's intention. Moreover, the multiplier effect of the Tobin tax due to hot potato trading can lead to wider bid ask spreads. This must be taken into account and therefore the tax rate has to be only a fraction of what the original proposal suggests. Goodhart (1996) suspects the markets to become thinner because buyers as well as sellers go out of the market. It therefore takes longer for the market maker to match sell and buy orders, what means higher risks and longer periods in which the money is tied up. This makes markets more expensive and more volatile. For Palley (2001) this seems to be an unlikely outcome since the Tobin tax is to be levied at a low rate, and the transaction volume of the foreign exchange market is that enormous. Moreover, a Tobin tax contributes only little to higher transactions costs and international financial markets were not thinner when transactions costs were higher before the technological revolution.

In the original proposal, Tobin suggests to tax foreign exchange transactions on the spot market only. For a speculator who bets on a 10 per cent appreciation of the US-Dollar it would then be rational to go through the derivative markets instead of the spot market. He would swap a German Government bond for a U.S. Treasury security in order to be long in US-Dollars. At the time of maturity, only net profits are transferred. So, if the US-Dollar in fact appreciates by 10 per cent, only these 10 per cent net profit will go through the spot market and will be taxed. Assume a Tobin tax of 1 per cent, the tax burden for this speculation is 0.1 per cent. In contrast, investors that go through the spot market are forced to pay the tax twice to the total volume and not only to net profits. The tax burden for a round trip then is 2.1 times 1 per cent or 2.1 per cent. Exporters and importers have to go through the spot market as well but only once (there is no round trip) and pay 1 per cent. We see again that the Tobin tax does not discourage short-term speculation. Most proponents of the Tobin tax are aware of the necessity to tax derivatives, too. But taxing only the foreign exchange segment of the derivative markets would not be sufficient since the international financial markets are linked together through derivatives. Efficient measures to avoid any distortions would end up in regulations that would be a step back of 20 years (De Grauwe (2000)). Eichengreen/Wyplosz (1996) do not find it necessary to levy the Tobin tax to derivatives. Their counterargument runs as follows: In the chain of hot potato trading that was initiated for instance by a customer forward, there will be a dealer who seeks to close his open position through a purchase on the spot market. The authors conclude that in this way the initial forward is taxed either. Yet, this seems to be unrealistic since there is no

evidence that one dealer closes his position on the spot market when he can pass the hot potato to anyone else. Moreover, Eichengreen/Wyplosz (1996) as well as Grözinger (2001) assume that every dealer passes the whole amount and not only a fraction of the initial order. If every dealer carries a fraction, the volume of hot potato trade will decline gradually without underlying taxation. Finally, it can hardly be the objective of the tax to raise the burden to the customer order and the following hedging. The aim is to discourage speculation if it was destabilizing. A speculator that trades with derivatives is not affected by a Tobin tax levied on a spot transaction to close an open position at the end of a hot potato chain. Goodhart (1996) and Garber/Taylor (1995) regard it as a must to tax derivatives. In addition, small amounts have to be exempted from the tax in order to avoid deadweight costs when for example travelers need some foreign cash. Otherwise, the tax burden would fall on tourists, exporters and importers while traders of 'hot money' are able to avoid the tax.

2.5.3 Does a Tobin Tax Make the Market Participants Orientate More by Fundamentals?

General results of economic theory show that the group of market participants is heterogeneous. To distinguish very roughly there are those whose expectations are based on macroeconomic data – or to speak for all financial markets – on fundamentals, and those who anticipate the reaction of the other traders due to new information – the so called noise-trader who seek to gauge market psychology. The way to show that a transactions tax make market participants model more on fundamentals is to illustrate that the tax has more impact on noise-traders so that real investors ('fundamentalists') will dominate the market. We have already demonstrated above the most common attempt that, however, is based on questionable assumptions and uncertain consequences.

Stiglitz (1989) argues differently: Suppose there are four different categories of market participants. Highly informed individuals with insider information, basically informed traders that perform on the market average, the real investors that orientate by fundamentals, and the noise-traders as explained above. A transactions tax – and focusing on the foreign exchange market – the Tobin tax would have no impact on the insider and hardly any impact on the basically informed individuals and real investors. But there is likely an effect on noise-traders. Ex ante they are sure to beat the average but since the market casino is a zero-sum game at least half of them are wrong. Therefore, ex post

they would be better off not to have gambled. A transactions tax could stop the fools from gambling and diminish losses. However, this argument is not persuasive. First, Stiglitz's effort is also based on the assumption that noise-trading as a kind of speculation has short-term character and is destabilizing and that a transactions tax discourages exactly this speculation. Above, we find out that this is open to discussion. Second, the belief to be smarter than the average of all market participants is based - once again - on expectations. It is clear that a Tobin tax of some basis points cannot stop a speculator from trading when he expects good profits even foolishly. Third, there is no reason to intervene in the market just because some gamblers lose money. Since it is a zero-sum game, the amount that a fool loses will win another speculator – just a redistribution of money. The case for a tax levy would be negative external effects on desirable trades and, to which we come next, excessive waste of resources that are not productive.

In general, businesses like investment banks acting on international financial markets attract a lot of talented human capital – for Summers/Summers (1989) too much human capital that is not creating wealth. International financial markets as we have today waste too much private resources to operate and government resources to police. A comparison of the income of corporations noted at the New York Stock Exchange (NYSE) and the income of member firms of the NYSE suggests that one-fourth of total corporation profit is spent for financial engineering, costs of information and other non direct payments included.

It is clear that investments on international financial markets are a zero-sum game. That is, speculators seek in acquiring information to win against other market participants. Normally however, this information does not affect production decisions or the real value of a currency, to speak for foreign exchange markets, but only the price of the asset or currency. As a result, there are only private but no additional social gains when this information is the basis for trading. What takes place is an excessive investment in gathering information in order to be ahead of the other traders. The motivation is that the 'winner takes it all', and thus speculator's goal is to get the information first. But if everybody in the market invests that much in acquiring information nobody will have any competitive advantage. It is rational to invest as long as the marginal private return equals the marginal costs, which is equal, the opportunity costs or the return elsewhere without information costs. Stiglitz (1989) concludes that the net marginal social return is negative since their private return is more than the social return as mentioned above. This rent-seeking makes everybody worse off due to excessive expenditures on gathering information in this Keynesian beauty-contest. One may then think that prices contain all information. Yet, most of the information does not go back to fundamental data but are short-term pseudo signals that are incorporated psychologically. A transactions tax like the Tobin tax with much higher impact on short-term investment seems to be good policy against wasting resources that otherwise could be productive and creating wealth. Moreover, traders that remain in the market do no longer base their expectations on short-term pseudo signals but on long-term fundamental data making the market less volatile and the price containing useful information. But this analysis is not more than another reason for limiting international financial markets and does not offer any evidence that the Tobin tax reaches its purposes since its function of discouraging shortterm speculation is questionable.

Furthermore, Davidson (1998) detects some inconsistency in Stiglitz's arguments. On the one hand, transactions taxes enhance efficiency in financial markets, on the other hand transactions taxes levied on goods markets are not desirable. Stiglitz's only explanation of the excessive volatility of the international financial markets is the irrational behavior of fools, which are born every minute. The counter-argument is that in financial markets there exist fools since decades in which they are not being pushed out of the market in the sense of a Darwinian process. So even in the long run there are fools affecting market prices; and there is no evidence that pervasive irrationality does not exist in all product markets. Davidson (1998) argues that expectations matter and cause individuals to speculate. Therefore, a Tobin tax cannot be efficient but a creditable market maker with a great buffer stock who guarantees an unchanging spot market price over time. Those who speculate then are in fact fools and will lose.

Some more evidence that market participants could orientate more by fundamentals by levying a Tobin tax offer Menkhoff/Michaelis (1993). A Tobin tax decreases the sensitivity of foreign exchange traders according to expected changes of exchange rates and hence causes them to adjust to fundamentals. In addition, a Tobin tax contributes to preventing the emergence of speculative bubbles and makes the bubbles happen to burst earlier than they would without a tax.

In summary signs are emerging, that a Tobin tax could make investors model more on fundamental data but there are some strong counter-arguments. It will be difficult to find out how market participants would react, if once a tax on foreign exchange transactions was levied.

But what we have learned from this chapter is that it is not clear-cut and really questionable whether the Tobin tax as proposed could be desirable since the assumptions the proposal is based on are not fulfilled obviously. Even the inverse relationship between holding period and tax burden – the whole point of the Tobin tax – does not hold generally.

3. Is a Small Tobin Tax Sufficient?

In the previous chapter, we have examined whether the Tobin tax is desirable according to its proponents' objective to stabilize international financial markets and to diminish globalization risks. The approach was more from the point of view of quality. In the following, we will turn our attention to quantitative issues. Are grains of sand in the wheels of international financial markets sufficient to establish stability when good speculative profits are expected or panic occurs? Can a small Tobin tax create enough governmental autonomy for national economic policy? The findings of this chapter will be that the Tobin tax is not sufficient a measure for preventing financial crises and cannot have the power to generate much monetary autonomy. On the contrary, the foolish trust in being protected from speculative attacks and exchange rate fluctuations could be dangerous.

3.1 The Tobin Tax and Crisis Prevention

In 2.5.2, we already mentioned Davidson's (1997) doubts whether it is sensible to determine the tax burden depending on the round trip interval since all transactions taxes normally are independent of the holding period. A more reasonable approach is the comparison of the two states with and without a Tobin tax levy. Assume that p^t is the price of a foreign asset today and p^{t+1} is the expected price for the next period denominated in a certain currency. To analyze the effect of expected exchange rates and not stock prices we suppose that changes of the asset prices reflect changes in exchange rates.

If $(p^{t+1} - p^t) > 0$, an appreciation of the currency will be expected; if $(p^{t+1} - p^t) < 0$, a depreciation will be expected. Moreover, q is the future expected income and c the carrying costs of holding the financial asset, opportunity costs included. Net earnings then

appear to be (q - c). Let T be transactions costs for every purchase or sale. If no Tobin tax is levied, an investor will buy, if

(3.1)
$$(q-c)+(p^{t+1}-p^t)>0,$$

and will sell, if

$$(3.2) \quad (q-c) + (p^{t+1} - p^t) < 0.$$

The easiest case one can imagine is when money as an asset is hold. There is no future net income (q - c = 0) and there occur no transactions costs (T = 0). Thus, a speculator will be a bull, if

(3.3)
$$\frac{p^{t+1}}{p^t} > 1$$
,

and will be a bear, if

$$(3.4) \quad \frac{p^{t+1}}{p^t} < 1.$$

This is quite easy to see since the terms on the left-hand sides are the gross growth rates of the exchange rate.

In the following, the Tobin tax (t) is modeled. As we know, the Tobin tax is due twice on a round trip. Therefore, the investor will go long, if

(3.5)
$$(q-c)+(p^{t+1}-p^t)-t\cdot(p^{t+1}+p^t)>0,$$

while he will go short, if

$$(3.6) \quad (q-c) + (p^{t+1} - p^t) - t \cdot (p^{t+1} + p^t) < 0.$$

Equivalently to the situation above where q - c = 0 and T = 0 the speculator will be bullish, if

(3.7)
$$\frac{p^{t+1}}{p^t} > \frac{1+t}{1-t}$$
,

and will be bearish, if

$$(3.8) \quad \frac{p^{t+1}}{p^t} < \frac{1+t}{1-t}.$$

Comparing now inequalities (3.7) and (3.8) with (3.3) and (3.4) we conclude that the expected change in the exchange rate in the world with a Tobin tax levy must not be $\{[(1 + t) / (1 - t)] - 1\}$ x 100 per cent greater than the maximum expected change in the no tax case not to induce bullishness or bearishness. For example without a Tobin tax there is no incentive to buy a currency due to transactions costs and negative net earnings although expected appreciation is 0.5 per cent. Then in the case of Tobin Tax at a rate of 1 per cent, expected appreciation must not be greater than 0.5 + 2.02 = 2.52 per cent not to induce bullish behavior. The 1 per cent Tobin tax corresponds to a 104 per cent tax burden if traded every week (52 weeks a year). This sounds much and seems to be deterrent for every short-term speculation. But if one expects an additional appreciation of the exchange rate of 2.02 per cent independent from the time period, he will buy. So even a 1 per cent Tobin tax is very fine sand in the wheels of international financial markets and cannot diminish globalization risks like speculative attacks and financial crises. Davidson (1997) states that in the case of the Mexican tequila crisis in 1994/1995 the peso fell by about 60 per cent during weeks. That would have required a Tobin tax of more than 23 per cent! As a result, the speculator will trade as soon as there are expected overall capital gains or losses. A Tobin tax that does not tax these gains fully at a rate of 100 per cent on a round trip cannot deter speculation.³³

³³ In Davidson (1997) the author proposes a regulatory framework of international finance built upon an international money clearing unit (IMCU) as the only liquid asset allowed as reserves and a mechanism that puts the burden of adjustment in international finance on countries experiencing surplus in their trade balance. While De Angelis (1999-2000) agree with Davidson according to the shortcomings of the Tobin tax, the proposal is controversially discussed; see also Davidson (1999-2000).

3.2 The Tobin Tax and Monetary Autonomy

The restoration or maintenance of autonomy for national macroeconomic and monetary policy is the second objective of the Tobin tax. As James Tobin writes in his proposal of 1978, viable differentials of interest rates between economies are hard and costly to perpetuate due to massive movements of funds. That is, central banks and governments are no longer able to model on national economic requirements but have to orientate by external circumstances neglecting domestic issues like employment, output and price level. The idea is to reduce trading volume on international financial markets as a whole and in particular speculation. Central banks' market interventions become more effective and governments can concentrate on domestic policy issues.

There is another way to discuss this problem. The content of the 'impossible trinity' is that it is not possible to reach all of the three political goals simultaneously, namely international financial openness, monetary autonomy, and stability of nominal exchange rates. To establish financial openness and a stable currency for example in a fixed exchange rate regime the country has to give up monetary independence since stable exchange rates require central bank market interventions in order to cope with capital mobility. The national amount of money can no longer be adjusted to domestic conditions. The other way round the price for financial openness and monetary autonomy is flexible exchange rates that suffer from volatility. Some argue that a Tobin tax might cut down the openness of international financial markets a little so as to re-establish some monetary independence while exchange rates are fixed.³⁴

Frankel (1996) is skeptical whether a small Tobin Tax is a sufficient measure to sacrifice financial openness creating autonomy for national economic policy. In 1992 and 1993, when dealers speculated against the narrow bands of the European exchange rate system (ERM) a Tobin tax would not have been deterrent. The same holds for Mexico 1994 and Asia 1997. In Frankel's opinion, monetary autonomy goes hand in hand with large variability of the exchange rates.

By applying the interest parity conditions and by introducing the Tobin tax, it is possible to determine a maturity-dependent interest rate band in which the national interest rate can differ from the foreign interest rate without incentives to move money. It is assumed that the foreign interest rate i^{B} is fixed at a certain level, lets say of 10 per cent.

³⁴ See Buch/Heinrich/Pierdzioch (2001), p.19.

If the interest parity condition holds, after-tax returns in the foreign and in the domestic country will be equal. The following approach underlines best the results of De Grauwe (2000) who does not present any modeling framework. Let i^A be the domestic interest rate, t the Tobin tax and y the maturity in years, then the interest rate parity conditions (see equation 2.1) can be written as:

(3.9)
$$(1+i^B y) \cdot (1-t)^2 = 1+i^A y$$
.

Solving for the domestic interest rate i^A yields

(3.10)
$$i^{A} = \frac{(1+i^{B}y)\cdot(1-t)^{2}-1}{y}$$
.

By fixing the foreign interest rate i^{B} at 10 per cent and the Tobin tax t at 0.1 per cent we get the domestic interest rate i^{A} dependent only on the maturity y:

(3.11)
$$i^{A} = \frac{(1+0.1y) \cdot 0.99^{2} - 1}{y}$$
.

The domestic interest rate i^A can be interpreted as the lower limit of a interest rate band in which national interest rates can be set independently. Obviously, the lower limit increases with longer maturities and approximates the foreign interest rate.

Equation (3.9) expresses a situation in which a local investor is indifferent between investing at home or in the foreign country. To get the upper limit of the interest rate band assume a foreigner who is indifferent between investing in his country (B) and in country A:

(3.12) $1+i^B y = (1+i^A y) \cdot (1-t)^2$.

Solving for the domestic interest rate i^A yields

(3.13)
$$i^{A} = \frac{\frac{1+i^{B}y}{(1-t)^{2}}-1}{y},$$

or rather

(3.14)
$$i^{A} = \frac{\frac{1+0.1y}{0.99^{2}}-1}{y}$$

This upper bound decreases with longer maturity y but approximates to the foreign interest rate of 10 per cent, either. As a result, the free interest rate band is symmetric to the constant foreign interest rate, is broad for short maturities and becomes thinner for longer terms. In the very long run it vanishes. For example, while the band covers 3month interest rates from 1.8 to 18.3 per cent it decreases from 8.8 to 11.2 per cent for a maturity of 2 years. In the 5-years run the band narrows to 9.4 - 10.6 per cent. The breadth of the band can be regarded as the degree of national autonomy of setting interest rates independently.

Jetin/De Brunhoff (2000) mistakenly calculate the degree of independence directly from equation (2.2) of the Frankel model, overlooking that in this model the domestic interest rate is fixed and that the interest rate parity condition is solved for the foreign return. The second and graver shortcoming is that the authors neglect the upper or the lower limit – which depends on the point of view. Therefore, they get the degree of freedom of setting interest rates nationally to be half as much. Nevertheless, national autonomy in setting short-term interest rates is quite sizeable. But to attract real investments and to police national economic issues the long-term interest rate matters. As we can see, at the long end the national interest rate is still determined by the foreign interest rate since the interest rate band disappears. The interest rate band may be wider for short maturities as we suggest above because we modeled the Tobin tax to be due only once. According to the Frankel model in 2.3.1, especially speculators with short horizon calculate to be charged the Tobin tax twice. But the result that national autonomy vanishes at the long end still remains.

For Arestis/Sawyer (1997) it seems to be straightforward that a Tobin tax of say 0.1 per cent cannot contribute to much difference of interest rates although the tax burden and hence the deterrent effect increases with shorter holding periods. The only argument for more monetary autonomy through a Tobin tax is that central bank interventions become more effective since official reserves increase relative to the volume of transactions. The economy may withstand more external shocks and runs on its currency hence creating more independence of monetary policy.

Finally, the belief of effective protection against speculative attacks when a Tobin tax is levied can be regarded as additional autonomy for national economic policies. But this attitude bears some risks especially when national authorities mistakenly consider the national economy to be secure from external financial attacks and crises. The upshot could be careless monetary and financial policy, and unfavorable economic developments could not be revised. The probability of financial crises would increase.³⁵

The conclusion is clear-cut: Even if the Tobin tax was desirable according to its concept, the expected increase in monetary and fiscal autonomy would not occur and it would not fulfill its task in preventing national financial crises because every sensible height of the tax rate would be too small.

4. Feasibility of the Tax

The results of the previous chapters suggest that from the theoretical point of view a Tobin Tax is not an efficient measure to stabilize foreign exchange markets and to contribute to national monetary autonomy. Besides the theoretical analysis, the question of whether a Tobin tax is feasible is equally important. Not only critics of the Tobin tax but also some of its proponents claim that it may not be feasible. Even James Tobin doubts.³⁶ The case of enforcement goes hand in hand with the question of how the Tobin tax might be avoided. There are two possible ways. One can switch the foreign exchange trade to jurisdictions where no transactions tax is imposed. Alternatively, one changes his product mix. The later possibility includes using established derivatives that are not subject to the tax or financial innovations that will be created to avoid the tax. Yet, this will not be examined in the following, since the recommendation is clear-cut: The tax base has to be as broad as possible not to create distortions on the foreign exchange markets and between other financial markets. This chapter concentrates on the first possibility of tax avoidance - the 'jurisdictional shopping'. It will be worked out that the Tobin tax requires international agreement.

 ³⁵ See Nunnenkamp (2001), p.15.
 ³⁶ See Tobin (1978) or Frankel (1996).

4.1 How Foreign Exchange is Traded

The foreign exchange market is divided into two segments. In the wholesale market dealers trade amongst each other bilaterally. Through these pure interbank transactions, the prices for foreign currencies are quoted. In the retail market, dealers or banks respectively meet the customers' needs resulting from foreign trade or investments for example. Contrarily to most stock markets the foreign exchange market hence is decentralized and dealer-driven; contracts are over-the-counter (OTC) leading to a non-transparent nature of the market. The most sizeable markets within the foreign exchange market are the spot market and the market for swaps.

A foreign exchange transaction takes place on three different sites. The dealing site is where the dealers as trading partners are located. Dealers are staff of a bank. Normally dealers are situated in a dealing room in financial centers independent from the location of the bank's head office. The dealing room is like a subsidiary of the bank. The location where the deals are booked is called booking site. In many cases, it is the head office of the bank but also can vary. Every foreign exchange transaction at least has two settlement sites since two or more currencies are traded. A settlement site is where the bank balances are transferred between the parties. Assume two German banks, which trade Euros against US-Dollars. Then one settlement site is the European Central Bank in Frankfurt, the other one will be a bank in the USA if both banks have their dollar balance there or, if not, the Federal Reserve Bank (FED).³⁷

4.2 The Kenen-Proposal

The key question now becomes which of the three sites seems to be best for levying the Tobin tax. Kenen (1996) argues that the settlement sites are not suitable since too many gross transactions are netted before they are settled. Moreover, not all transactions that are settled are through the foreign exchange market and thus should not be subject to the tax. The shortcoming of taxing the transaction at the booking site is that the Tobin tax could easily be avoided by putting some computers in jurisdictions without a Tobin tax. All transactions would be booked there. Kenen suggests levying the Tobin tax on the dealing sites. For this case, two ways of collecting the tax can be distinguished. On the one hand, all forex transactions of all international dealing rooms of one bank could be

³⁷ See for example Kenen (1996).

taxed on a national basis, which means in the country of the bank's headquarter. On the other hand, all forex transactions taking place in one market place could be taxed there, no matter what the nationality of the bank is. Although collecting the tax on the national basis would deter tax avoidance, Kenen proposes to collect it on a market basis. The former way of collection would impose some extra costs of consolidating data on the banks and favors banks whose governments did not impose a Tobin tax. Moreover, countries with big foreign exchange markets but few local banks would have no incentive to levy a Tobin tax on a national basis. The plan suggests collecting the tax on the dealing site according to the paper trail between the trading parties with respect to the status of the counterparty. If the transaction is interdealer in the wholesale market, each dealer will be charged half the Tobin tax rate whereas in the retail market the tax is payable full. The tax burden for the bank and for the customer then depends on how the additional costs are shared.

4.3 Is the Tobin Tax Feasible?

Kenen's proposal sounds sensible but there remain some doubts whether the Tobin tax collected that way is really feasible and desirable. First, every dealer has to know the status of his counterparty since in the case of interdealer transactions every party carries only half the tax. This implies some additional costs since lists of dealers must be updated and applied every transaction. Second, transactions between two non-bank traders would be tax-free. Third, transactions between small currencies would be taxed twice since a vehicle currency like the US-Dollar is used. Exempting those trades would cause the tax collection to become more complicated and it is difficult to discover those transactions, which include in fact a vehicle currency.

However, the real problem is the requirement of international cooperation between tax authorities. If one country is not willing to impose a Tobin tax, there will be strong incentives for banks to move their dealing rooms there to avoid the tax. The winners of this tax competition could be offshore centers as tax havens like the Cayman Islands as a prominent example. Of course, migration to a tax-free location is costly and risky especially for the case that this tax haven does not have good infrastructure for exchange trading.³⁸ Moreover, if not all banks establish their dealing rooms in the tax-free jurisdiction simultaneously, one of them will be the first. Imposing a punishing tax at a high

³⁸ Griffith-Jones (1996).

rate on all transactions with this bank could hinder to avoid the tax that way. But the more banks have moved offshore the greater the network effect and the smaller the effect of punishment. Some argue that it would be sufficient, if all members of the G-7 countries, Singapore, Hong Kong and Switzerland agreed to impose the Tobin tax since nearly total volume of foreign exchange is traded therein. Palley (2001) states that holding expensive equity capital as required for the BIS standard has an equivalent effect as a Tobin tax. But experience suggests that there was no shift to jurisdictions where they are not applied. These standards are regarded as good housekeeping. Hence, the international enforcement of the Tobin tax as a standard is a matter of political will. However, one must not neglect the case of shifting to tax-free jurisdictions if only one country lures foreign banks by not imposing the tax. All the banks that are charged the Tobin tax might lose connection to the foreign exchange markets due to competitive advantages of those not being taxed. For the case that local banks can avoid the tax by shifting the dealing rooms to tax havens, the part of the bank located in the home country will be not more than a lender which finances the foreign exchange transactions of its offshore subsidiary.³⁹ And countries do have incentives not to impose the Tobin tax since banking and especially exchange trading is a highly paid job which yields positive spillover effects on other businesses and on society.⁴⁰

Proponents of the Tobin tax call for international cooperation of national authorities. Moreover, an international organization like the IMF or the Worldbank should coordinate the implementation and monitoring of the Tobin tax as well as the distribution of its revenues.⁴¹ Schmidt (2000) proposes to collect the Tobin tax on the settlement site since technological innovations which are designed to eliminate settlement risks make it now possible to detect taxable gross transactions before netted, no matter whether the payments were made onshore or offshore.

These proposals illustrate that imposing a Tobin tax involves besides economical also political and technical problem due to its feasibility. However, even if there existed a political will for imposing the tax and - against all odds - if there was global agreement on a uniform Tobin tax arrangement, a levy would not be desirable since the Tobin tax bears too many economic shortcomings.

 ³⁹ Garber (1996).
 ⁴⁰ See Kasa (1999).
 ⁴¹ Griffith-Jones (1996).

5. Summary and Conclusions

On the one hand, international financial markets are necessary for the functioning of all other markets especially for markets of internationally traded goods. On the other hand, super-efficient financial markets due to globalization can have deep impacts on national economies - for example, the loss of monetary autonomy, high volatility of the exchange rate that leads to uncertainty or herd behavior of the speculators causing currency attacks. A Tobin tax might be a compromise between totally free and strongly regulated international financial markets.

Chapter 2.1 describes the Tobin tax proposal. At a first sight the Tobin tax seems to be persuasive. It discourages short-term speculation that is said to destabilize whereas desirable investments face a much lower tax burden. But the functioning of the Tobin tax is not that clear-cut. Extending a Frankel model in chapter 2.3, which shows how the Tobin tax can function hints at the possibility of a contrary effect when the expected depreciation of the foreign currency is large. The Tobin tax proposal is based on the assumption that short-term trading is speculative and destabilizing. There are some theoretical and empirical counterarguments, above all the 'hot potato trading' as a hedging strategy amongst dealers when a customer order shifts a bank's portfolio out of balance (chapter 2.5). These trades are assumed to amount up to 70 per cent of total volume of the foreign exchange market. Taxing hot potato trading would be foolish since it lowers market risks and leads to lower prices. Moreover, real investments and trade in goods and services might be discriminated because there are some possibilities for 'hot money' to avoid the tax or at least to lower the tax burden. A strong reason for taxing speculation is excessive wasting of resources in order to get some informational lead over market competitors. But the success of the Tobin tax in discouraging this 'rentseeking' depends on its questionable ability to deter short-term speculation.

Chapter 3 suggests that the Tobin tax is not an efficient measure to prevent currency crises since an additional transactions cost of some basis points will not be deterrent, if high returns are expected by attacking a currency. The ability of a Tobin tax to generate some monetary autonomy is quite poor especially for the long run. Since super-efficient international financial markets have negative external effects on the economy and on the monetary authority, the Tobin can be justified as a Pigouvian tax.⁴² However, as a measure to prevent currency crises, it must be imposed globally or at least amongst the

⁴² See Palley (1999) and Pierdzioch/Stadtmann (2000).

major financial markets (chapter 4). Thus, in addition to theoretical economic doubts about the Tobin tax there arise some political problems, which can make the Tobin tax to become infeasible.

There is not doubt about that financial crises must be prevented and that other globalization risks – namely national monetary dependency and market insecurity – have to be diminished. But before calling for any measure like the Tobin tax one has to detect the real causes. Surely, failures of international financial markets have contributed to many of today's problems, but are they really the initial cause? As the financial crises of the 1990s especially the Mexican Crisis 1994/95 and the East Asian Crises 1997/98 have shown, panic amongst exchange traders causes them to pull out their money what leads to a currency fire in that country.⁴³ Nevertheless, panic also has its causes. Moral hazard and adverse selection due to asymmetric information can be sources of destabilizing the economy as well as unexpected news about bad macroeconomic fundamentals or unstable policy (Mishkin (1998) and Siebert (1998)). According to crises of the 1990s, the dismantling of emerging markets was too fast a process since western industrialized countries called on emerging countries to open up their financial markets without being prepared for this challenge (Tobin (1998)). These markets did not obtain sophisticated bank sectors and bank supervision what led to moral hazard and systematic risk.

Protectionism on international financial markets would be a step back since its desirable functions of spreading risks and coordinating international division of labor would be partially lost. A Tobin tax is a political tool, which permanently controls international capital movements and does not distinguish between poor and highly sophisticated financial markets. As a measure to diminish globalization risks, it had to be imposed temporary and only on less sophisticated markets (De Grauwe (2000)). The theory of Guembel/Sussman (2001) suggests that highly sophisticated markets do not bear that much risks since there exist instruments for market participants to insure themselves in the case of high exchange rate fluctuations. They conclude that most emerging countries need not put sand in the wheels of financial markets because they have sand aplenty. It would be foolish to think the Tobin tax is a panacea ignoring the real causes of the globalization risks. In contrast, an expected Tobin tax levy itself could create panic (Bird/Rajan (2001)).

⁴³ See Aschinger (2001), p.24ff; De Grauwe (2000), p.397ff.

Although the concept of a Tobin tax has been discussed in many parliaments and there seems to be willingness also in Germany to tax foreign exchange transactions⁴⁴ not all official statements are enthusiastic. The Enquete Commission of the German Parliament (see BMF (2000)) claim that there are practical and political problems of imposing the Tobin tax and that its costs might be higher than its benefits. A study of the European Parliament (2000) is skeptical whether a Tobin tax would be effective and suggests the Tobin tax to be only a part of an internationally coordinated framework. The only argument for the Tobin tax that is really interesting for policy makers seems to be the revenue raising function that does not justify the levy.⁴⁵

Further research would be modeling the Tobin tax in a microeconomic framework with risk-avers investors and assets of different return and risk. A transactions tax might be able to dampen excessive international capital flow and speculation since it influences asset diversification decisions.

⁴⁴ See Deutscher Bundestag (2002).

⁴⁵ For Siebert (1998), Mishkin (1998) and Greenspan (1998) measures to diminish globalization risks efficiently would be stabilizing the banking sector through reforms and effective bank supervision, political transparency in economic affairs, setting realistic exchange rate targets as well as sustainable policy.

References

- Arestis, Philip/ Sawyer, Malcolm (1997): How Many Cheers for the Tobin Transaction Tax? *Cambridge Journal of Economics*, No. 21, pp. 753 – 768.
- Aschinger, Gerhard (2001): Währungs- und Finanzkrisen: Entstehung, Analyse und Beurteilung aktueller Krisen. Verlag Vahlen, Munich.
- Bird, Graham/ Rajan, Ramkishen S. (1999): Would International Currency Taxation Help Stabalise Exchange Rates and Avoid Currency Crises in Developing Countries? Centre for International Economic Studies (CIES), University of Adelaide, CIES Discussion Paper No. 99/11.
- Bird, Graham/ Rajan, Ramkishen S. (2000): Restraining International Capital Movements: What Does It Mean? Centre for International Economic Studies (CIES), University of Adelaide, Policy Discussion Paper No. 0014.
- Bird, Graham/ Rajan, Ramkishen S. (2001): International Currency Taxation and Currency Stabilisation in Developing Countries. *The Journal of Development Studies*, Vol. 37, No. 3, pp. 21 38.
- BIS (2001): *Quarterly Review*. International Banking and Financial Market Developments, Bank of International Settlements, December 2001, Basel.
- BIS (2001a): 71st Annual Report: 1 April 2000 31 March 2001. Bank of International Settlements, 11 June 2001, Basel.
- BIS (2002): 72nd Annual Report: 1 April 2001 31 March 2002. Bank of International Settlements, 8 June 2001, Basel.
- BMF (2000): Darstellung und kritische Beurteilung der Tobin-Steuer. Bundesministerium der Finanzen, Enquete-Kommission "Globalisierung der Weltwirtschaft", Arbeitsgruppe "Finanzmärkte", 14/86, 20. Dezember 2000, BMF/IX A 1.

- Buch, Claudia M./ Heinrich, Ralph P./ Pierdzioch, Christian (2001): Globalisierung der Finanzmärkte: Freier Kapitalverkehr oder Tobin-Steuer? Kiel Discussion Paper No. 381, The Kiel Institute of World Economics, Kiel.
- Bundesverband Deutscher Banken (1998): Stabile Finanzmärkte für das globale Zeitalter. Argumente zum Finanzmarkt – ein Plädoyer für offene Finanzmärkte, Cologne.
- Davidson, Paul (1997): Are Grains of Sand in the Wheels of International Finance Sufficient to Do the Job When Boulders Are Often Required? *The Economic Journal*, Vol. 107, No. 442, pp. 671 – 686.
- Davidson, Paul (1998): Efficiency and Fragile Speculative Financial Markets: Against the Tobin Tax and For a Creditable Market Maker. *American Journal of Economics* and Sociology, Vol. 57, No. 4, pp. 639 – 662.
- Davidson, Paul (1999-2000): Capital Movements, Tobin Tax, and Permanent Fire Prevention: A Response to De Angelis. *Journal of Post Keynesian Economics*, Winter 1999-2000, Vol. 22, No. 2, pp. 197 – 206.
- De Angelis, Massimo (1999-2000): Capital Movements, Tobin Tax, and Permanent Fire Prevention: A Critical Note. *Journal of Post Keynesian Economics*, Winter 1999-2000, Vol. 22, No. 2, pp. 187 – 195.
- De Grauwe, Paul (2000): Controls on Capital Flows. *Journal of Policy Modeling*, Vol. 22, No. 3, pp. 391 405.
- Deutscher Bundestag (2002): Globalisierung der Weltwirtschaft Herausforderungen und Antworten. Schlussbericht der Enquete-Kommission, Drucksache 14/9200.
- Dimand, Robert W./ Dore, Mohamed H.I. (2000): Keynes's Casino Capitalism, Bagehot's International Currency, and the Tobin Tax: Historical Notes on Preventing Currency Fires. *Journal of Post Keynesian Economics*, Summer 2000, Vol. 22, No. 4, pp. 515 – 528.

- Dooley, Michael P. (1996): The Tobin Tax: Good Theory, Weak Evidence, Questionable Policy. in: ul Haq/Kaul/Grunberg (Ed.): *The Tobin Tax: Coping with Financial Volatility*. Oxford University Press, New York, pp. 83 – 106.
- Dornbusch, Rudiger/ Frankel, Jeffrey (1987): The Flexible Exchange Rate System: Experience and Alternatives. National Bureau of Economic Research, Working Paper No. 2464.
- Eichengreen, Barry/ Tobin, James/ Wyplosz, Charles (1995): Two Cases for Sand in the Wheels of International Finance. *The Economic Journal*, Vol. 105, No. 428, pp. 162 – 172.
- Eichengreen, Barry/ Wyplosz, Charles (1996): Taxing International Financial Transactions to Enhance the Operation of the International Monetary System. in: ul Haq/Kaul/Grunberg (Ed.): *The Tobin Tax: Coping with Financial Volatility*. Oxford University Press, New York, pp. 15 – 39.
- European Parliament (2000): Die Durchführbarkeit einer Internationalen 'Tobin-Steuer'. Arbeitsdokument, Generaldirektion Wissenschaft, Reihe Wirtschaftsfragen ECON 107 DE.
- Felix, David (1995): Financial Globalization and the Tobin Tax. *Challenge*, May-June 1995, pp. 56 59.
- Felix, David (1996): Financial Globalization Versus Free Trade: The Case for the Tobin Tax. UNCTAD Discussion Paper No. 108.
- Fleming, Charles (2001): France Institutes Controversial Tax on Currency Deals. *The Wall Street Journal Europe*, 11/21/2001, p. 2.

Frankel, Jeffrey (1993): On Exchange Rates; MIT Press, Cambridge, Mass..

Frankel, Jeffrey (1996): How Well Do Foreign Exchange Markets Work: Might a Tobin Tax Help?. in: ul Haq/Kaul/Grunberg (Ed.): *The Tobin Tax: Coping with Financial Volatility*. Oxford University Press, New York, pp. 41 – 81. Friedman, Milton (1953): *The Case for Flexible Exchange Rates: Essays in Positive Economics*. University of Chicago Press, Chicago.

- Garber, Peter M. (1996): Issues of Enforcement and Evasion in a Tax on Foreign Exchange Transations. in: ul Haq/Kaul/Grunberg (Ed.): The Tobin Tax: *Coping with Financial Volatility*. Oxford University Press, New York, pp. 129 – 142.
- Garber, Peter M./ Taylor, Mark P. (1995): Sand in the Wheels of Foreign Exchange Markets: A Sceptical Note. *The Economic Journal*, Vol. 105, No. 428, pp. 173 – 180.
- Goodhart, Charles A. (1996): A Currency Transactions Tax. Why and How: Discussant to Professor J. Tobin. *Economic Systems merged with Journal of International and Comparative Economics*, Vol. 20, No. 2 – 3, pp. 91 – 95.
- Greenspan, Alan (1998): The Globalization of Finance. *Cato Journal*, Vol. 17, No. 3, Winter 1998, pp. 243 250.
- Grefe, Christiane/ Greffrath, Mathias/ Schumann, Harald (2002): *ATTAC Was wollen die Globalisierungskritiker?* Rowohlt, Berlin.
- Griffith-Jones, Stephany (1996): Institutional Arrangements for a Tax on International Currency Transactions. in: ul Haq/Kaul/Grunberg (Ed.): *The Tobin Tax: Coping with Financial Volatility*. Oxford University Press, New York, pp. 144 – 158.
- Grözinger, Gerd (2001): Die Tobin-Steuer: Machbar, wünschenswert, erfolgversprechend? *Blätter für deutsche und internationale Politik*, 12/2001, pp. 1 – 9.
- Guembel, Alexander/ Sussman, Oren (2001): Optimal Exchange Rates: A Market-Microstructure Approach. Working Paper, Said Business School, Oxford University, 10 July 2001.

- Horn, Ernst-Jürgen (1995): Ordnungs- und wettbewerbspolitische Herausforderungen durch die Globalisierung der Finanzmärkte. Kiel Working Paper No. 687, The Kiel Institute of World Economics, Kiel.
- Jetin, Bruno/ De Brunhoff, Suzanne (2000): The Tobin Tax and the Regulation Of Capital Movements. in: Bello/Bullard/Malhotra (Ed.): Global Finance – New Thinking on Regulating Speculative Capital Markets. Zed Books, London, pp. 195 – 214.
- Kasa, Kenneth (1999): Time for a Tobin Tax? Federal Reserve Bank of San Francisco, Economic Research & Data, Economic Letter 99 – 12, April 9, 1999.
- Kenen, Peter B. (1996): The Feasibility of Taxing Foreign Exchange Transactions. in: ul Haq/Kaul/Grunberg (Ed.): *The Tobin Tax: Coping with Financial Volatility*. Oxford University Press, New York, pp. 109 – 128.
- Keynes, John Maynard (1936): *The General Theory of Employment, Interest and Money*. Macmillan Press, London.
- Kupiec, Paul H. (1995): Noise Traders, Excess Volatility, and a Securities Transaction Tax. Board of Governors of the Federal Reserve System, Finance and Economics Discussion Series 1995, Vol. 26; Washington, D.C.
- Lyons, Richard K. (1997): A Simultaneous Trade Model of the Foreign Exchange Hot Potato. *Journal of International Economics*, Vol. 42, pp. 275 298.
- Lyons, Richard K. (2001): *The Microstructure Approach to Exchange Rates*. MIT Press, Cambridge, Mass.
- Menkhoff, Lukas/ Michaelis, Jochen (1993): Exzessive Markteffizienz und Tobin-Steuer. Diskussionsbeiträge 24/93, Institut für Finanzwissenschaft der Albert-Ludwigs-Universität Freiburg im Breisgau.
- Menkhoff, Lukas/ Michaelis, Jochen (1995): Steuern zur Begrenzung unerwünschter Währungsspekulation. Aussenwirtschaft, 50. Jahrgang, Vol. III, Zürich, pp. 443 – 462.

- Mishkin, Frederic S. (1998): International Capital Movements, Financial Volatility and Financial Instability. in: Duwendag, Dieter (Ed.): *Finanzmärkte im Spannungsfeld von Globalisierung, Regulierung und Geldpolitik*. Schriften des Vereins für Socialpolitik, Vol. 261, Jahrestagung 1997, pp. 11 – 40.
- Mishkin, Frederic S. (2000): *The Economics of Money, Banking, and Financial Markets.* 6th Edition, Addison Wesley, Boston.
- Nunnenkamp, Peter (2001): Umbaupläne und Reparaturarbeiten an der internationalen Finanzarchitektur: Eine Zwischenbilanz aus deutscher Perspektive. Kiel Working Paper No. 1078, The Kiel Institute of World Economics, Kiel.
- Palley, Thomas (1999): Speculation and Tobin Taxes: Why Sand in the Wheels Can Increase Economic Efficiency. *Journal of Economics*, Vol. 69, No. 2, pp. 113 – 126.
- Palley, Thomas (2001): Destabilizing Speculation and the Case for an International Currency Transactions Tax. *Challenge*, Vol. 44, No. 3, pp. 70 89.
- Pierdzioch, Christian/ Stadtmann, Georg (2000): Komplexe Aktien- und Wechselkursdynamik in einem makroökonomischen Modell mit heterogener Erwartungsbildung. *Kredit und Kapital*, Vol. 3, pp. 377 – 409.
- Raffer, Kunibert (1998): The Tobin Tax: Reviving a Discussion. *World Development*, Vol. 26, No. 3, pp. 529 538.
- Rajan, Ramkishen S. (2001): Revisiting the Case for a Tobin Tax Post Asian Crisis: A Financial Safeguard or Financial Bonanza? Centre for International Economic Studies (CIES), University of Adelaide, Policy Discussion Paper No. 0128.
- Sassen, Saskia (1999): Global Financial Centers. *Foreign Affairs*, Vol. 78, No. 1, pp. 75 87.

- Sauernheimer, Karlhans (1997): Ursachen und Folgen der Expansion internationaler
 Finanzmärkte. in: Büttner/Hampe (Ed.): *Die Globalisierung der Finanzmärkte*.
 Tutzinger Schriften zur Politik, Vol. 4, v.Hase & Koehler, Munich, pp. 69 85.
- Schmidt, Rodney (2000): A Feasible Foreign Exchange Transactions Tax. in: Bello/Bullard/Malhotra (Ed.): Global Finance – New Thinking on Regulating Speculative Capital Markets. Zed Books, London, pp. 215 – 238.
- Siebert, Horst (1998): Disziplinierung der nationalen Wirtschaftspolitik durch die internationale Kapitalmobilität. in: Duwendag, Dieter (Ed.): *Finanzmärkte im Spannungsfeld von Globalisierung, Regulierung und Geldpolitik.* Schriften des Vereins für Socialpolitik, Vol. 261, Jahrestagung 1997, pp. 41 – 67.
- Smith, John Grieve (1997): Exchange Rate Instability and the Tobin Tax. Commentaries in: *Cambridge Journal of Economics*, Vol. 21, pp. 745 – 752.
- Stiglitz, Joseph E. (1989): Using Tax Policy to Curb Speculative Short-Term Trading. Journal of Financial Services Research, Vol. 3, pp. 101 – 115.
- Stiglitz, Joseph E. (2002): *Globalization and its Discontents*. W.W. Norton & Company, New York.
- Stotsky, Janet G. (1997): Review of: The Tobin Tax: Coping with Financial Volatility. *Journal of Economic Literature*, Vol. 35, No. 4, Dec. 1997, pp. 2064 – 2065.
- Summers, Lawrence H./ Summers, Victoria P. (1989): When Financial Markets Work Too Well: A Cautious Case For a Securities Transaction Tax. *Journal of Financial Services Research*, Vol. 3, pp. 261 – 286.
- Tobin, James (1974): *The New Economics One Decade Older*. The Eliot Janeway Lectures on Historical Economics in Honour of Joseph Schumpeter, 1972, Princeton, Princeton University Press.
- Tobin, James (1978): A Proposal for International Monetary Reform. *The Eastern Economic Journal*, Vol. 4, No. 3-4, pp. 153 159.

- Tobin, James (1996): Prologue. in: ul Haq/Kaul/Grunberg (Ed.): *The Tobin Tax: Coping* with Financial Volatility. Oxford University Press, New York, pp. ix xviii.
- Tobin, James (1996a): A Currency Transactions Tax. Why and How. *Economic Systems merged with Journal of International and Comparative Economics*, Vol. 20, No. 2-3, pp. 85 90.
- Tobin, James (1998): Foreword. in: Griffith-Jones, Stephany: *Global Capital Flows: Should they be Regulated?* Macmillan Press, London, pp. xi – xv.
- Ul Haq, Mahbub/ Kaul, Inge/ Grunberg, Isabelle (1996): *The Tobin Tax: Coping with Financial Volatility*. Oxford University Press, New York.